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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)
(Unaudited)

 

   
June 30,

2011   
December 31,

2010  
ASSETS    
Current Assets:    
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 123,431   $ 131,332  
Trade receivables    551,189    458,128  
Allowance for doubtful accounts    (5,639)   (6,324) 
Inventories:     Raw materials    284,327    270,191  

Work in process    8,969    6,211  
Finished goods    274,866    255,273  

    
 

   
 

Total Inventories    568,162    531,675  
Deferred income taxes    54,097    74,160  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    147,990    136,224  

    
 

   
 

Total Current Assets    1,439,230    1,325,195  
    

 
   

 

Property, plant and equipment, at cost    1,398,853    1,344,883  
Accumulated depreciation    (834,160)   (806,765) 

    
 

   
 

   564,693    538,118  
    

 
   

 

Goodwill    665,582    665,582  
Other intangible assets, net    45,799    48,834  
Deferred income taxes    115,099    122,800  
Other assets    178,198    171,926  

    
 

   
 

Total Assets   $ 3,008,601   $ 2,872,455  
    

 

   

 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Current Liabilities:    
Bank borrowings and overdrafts and current portion of long-term debt   $ 216,345   $ 133,899  
Accounts payable    166,438    200,153  
Accrued payroll and bonus    44,872    95,135  
Dividends payable    21,825    21,657  
Restructuring and other charges    1,071    3,977  
Other current liabilities    178,101    206,130  

    
 

   
 

Total Current Liabilities    628,652    660,951  
    

 
   

 

Long-term debt    767,353    787,668  
Deferred gains    49,403    50,917  
Retirement liabilities    223,602    221,985  
Other liabilities    150,877    147,779  

    
 

   
 

Total Other Liabilities    1,191,235    1,208,349  
    

 
   

 

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 12)    
Shareholders’ Equity:    

Common stock 12 1/2¢ par value; authorized 500,000,000 shares; issued 115,761,840 shares as of June 30, 2011
and December 31, 2010; and outstanding 80,834,356 and 80,210,365 shares as of June 30, 2011 and
December 31, 2010    14,470    14,470  

Capital in excess of par value    123,570    123,809  
Retained earnings    2,636,419    2,519,706  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (230,179)   (275,351) 
Treasury stock, at cost - 34,927,484 shares as of June 30, 2011 and 35,551,475 shares as of December 31, 2010    (1,359,665)   (1,383,212) 

    
 

   
 

Total Shareholders’ Equity    1,184,615    999,422  
    

 
   

 

Noncontrolling interest    4,099    3,733  
    

 
   

 

Total Shareholders’ Equity including noncontrolling interest    1,188,714    1,003,155  
    

 
   

 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity   $ 3,008,601   $ 2,872,455  
    

 

   

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
(Unaudited)

 
   Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
   2011    2010   2011   2010  
Net sales   $ 715,589    $ 665,800   $1,429,860   $1,319,710  

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Cost of goods sold    431,166     380,799    847,977    764,501  
Research and development expenses    56,229     55,844    113,685    108,475  
Selling and administrative expenses    106,224     119,523    212,843    227,532  
Restructuring and other charges, net    3,985     1,843    4,013    6,831  
Interest expense    12,009     12,051    23,689    24,787  
Other expense, net    1,055     2,107    7,111    4,871  

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   610,668     572,167    1,209,318    1,136,997  
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Income before taxes on income    104,921     93,633    220,542    182,713  
Taxes on income    28,733     26,481    60,311    51,772  

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net income    76,188     67,152    160,231    130,941  
Other comprehensive income:       

Foreign currency translation adjustments    10,085     (24,820)   38,893    (35,896) 
Gains (Losses) on derivatives qualifying as hedges    617     (473)   (1,431)   (187) 
Pension and postretirement net liability adjustment    5,033     1,659    7,710    3,451  

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Comprehensive income   $ 91,923    $ 43,518   $ 205,403   $ 98,309  
    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

Net income per share - basic   $ 0.94    $ 0.84   $ 1.98   $ 1.65  
Net income per share - diluted   $ 0.93    $ 0.83   $ 1.96   $ 1.63  
Average number of shares outstanding - basic    80,451     79,188    80,250    78,978  
Average number of shares outstanding - diluted    81,489     80,111    81,320    79,902  
Dividends declared per share   $ 0.27    $ 0.25   $ 0.54   $ 0.50  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)
(Unaudited)

 
   Six Months Ended June 30,  
   2011   2010  
Cash flows from operating activities:    
Net income   $ 160,231   $ 130,941  
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by operations:    

Depreciation and amortization    37,356    40,221  
Deferred income taxes    27,215    (14,737) 
Gain on disposal of assets    (1,580)   (1,845) 
Stock-based compensation    15,912    10,780  
Pension settlement and curtailment    3,583    —    
Changes in assets and liabilities:    

Current receivables    (73,172)   (53,766) 
Inventories    (14,098)   (30,384) 
Current payables    (137,545)   58,580  
Other assets    (13,541)   (16,054) 
Other liabilities    (2,216)   3,904  

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by operations    2,145    127,640  
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from investing activities:    
Additions to property, plant and equipment    (45,699)   (37,013) 
Purchase of investments    (1,371)   (2,444) 
Maturity of net investment hedges    976    1,668  
Proceeds from disposal of assets    399    1,438  

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in investing activities    (45,695)   (36,351) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from financing activities:    
Cash dividends paid to shareholders    (43,349)   (39,631) 
Net change in bank borrowings and overdrafts    59,083    (33,637) 
Proceeds from issuance of stock under stock-based compensation plans    13,155    14,674  
Excess tax benefits on stock-based payments    5,075    —    

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    33,964    (58,594) 
    

 
   

 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    1,685    (2,278) 
    

 
   

 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents    (7,901)   30,417  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    131,332    80,135  

    
 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 123,431   $ 110,552  
    

 

   

 

Interest paid   $ 27,178   $ 26,614  
Income taxes paid   $ 38,137   $ 30,715  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Consolidated Financial Statements:

Basis of Presentation

These interim statements and management’s related discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and
their related notes and management’s discussion and analysis of results of operations and financial condition included in our 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K
(“2010 Form 10-K”). These interim statements are unaudited. The year-end balance sheet data included in this filing was derived from audited financial
statements, but does not include all disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We have historically
operated on a 52/53 week fiscal year ending on the Friday closest to the last day of the quarter. For ease of presentation, December 31 and June 30 are utilized
consistently throughout this report and these financial statements and notes to represent the period-end date. The unaudited interim financial statements include all
adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) and accruals necessary in the judgment of management for a fair statement of the results for the
periods presented. When used in these notes, the terms “the Registrant”, “IFF,” “the Company,” “we”, “us” and “our” means International Flavors & Fragrances
Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior years’ Consolidated Balance Sheet to conform to the 2011 presentation.

Revisions

The prior year’s statement of cash flows has been revised to reflect adjustments to Changes in Other assets and Changes in Other liabilities to properly
exclude certain non-cash activity on a gross basis. $5.8 million was reclassified from Changes in Other assets to Changes in Other liabilities in the statement of
cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2010. There were no changes to the balance sheet, operating cash flows, net income or stockholder’s equity in the
respective periods.

Note 2. Net Income Per Share:

Net income per share is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding. A reconciliation of the shares used in the computation of basic and
diluted net income per share is as follows:
 

   Three Months Ended June 30,    Six Months Ended June 30,  
(Shares in thousands)   2011    2010    2011    2010  
Basic    80,451     79,188     80,250     78,978  
Assumed dilution under stock plans    1,038     923     1,070     924  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Diluted    81,489     80,111     81,320     79,902  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Stock options and stock settled appreciation rights (“SSAR’s”) to purchase 25,000 and 249,000 shares were outstanding as of June 30, 2011 and 2010,
respectively, but were not included in the computation of diluted net income per share for the respective period since the impact was anti-dilutive.

We have issued shares of purchased restricted stock (“PRS”) which contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends and thus are considered participating
securities which are required to be included in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share pursuant to the two-class method. We did not present the
two-class method since the difference between basic and diluted net income per share for both common shareholders and PRS shareholders was less than $0.01
per share for each period and the number of PRS outstanding as of June 30, 2011 and 2010 was immaterial (approximately 0.6% of the total number of common
shares outstanding for both periods). Net income allocated to such PRS was $0.4 million during both the three months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 and $1.0
million and $0.8 million during the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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Note 3. Restructuring and Other Charges:

During the third quarter 2009, the Company announced the rationalization of its European manufacturing footprint. The rationalization consisted of the
closure of the Fragrance Compound facility in Drogheda, Ireland and partial closure of the Fragrance Ingredient plant in Haverhill, UK.

The Company completed its negotiations with the Drogheda, Ireland employee representatives during the third quarter 2010 and ceased manufacturing
operations at the plant as of September 30, 2010.

During the second quarter 2011, the Company executed a partial settlement of its pension obligations with the former employees of the Drogheda facility.
As a result, we recorded a charge of $3.9 million to cover settlements and special termination benefits during the quarter. This settlement was funded primarily
through pension plan investment trust assets.

In total we have recorded expenses of $34.7 million relating to this rationalization, of which $28.4 million was recorded to Restructuring and other charges,
net and $6.3 million recorded to Costs of goods sold and Research, Selling and Administrative expenses. We do not anticipate any further expenses related to this
rationalization.

The balance of the restructuring and other charges liability is expected to be substantially utilized by the end of 2011 as obligations are satisfied. Changes
in restructuring liabilities during the six months ended June 30, 2011 were as follows:
 

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)   
Employee-

Related   Pension   

Asset -
Related

and
Other   Total  

Balance December 31, 2010   $ 3,977   $ —     $ —     $ 3,977  
Additional charges (reversals), net    (516)   3,877    652    4,013  
Non-cash charges    —      (3,139)   —      (3,139) 
Payments and other costs    (2,390)   (738)   (652)   (3,780) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance June 30, 2011   $ 1,071   $ —     $ —     $ 1,071  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Note 4. Other Intangible Assets, Net:

Trademark and other intangible assets consist of the following amounts:
 

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)   
June 30,

2011   
December 31,

2010  
Gross carrying value   $ 165,406   $ 165,406  
Accumulated amortization    (119,607)   (116,572) 

    
 

   
 

Total   $ 45,799   $ 48,834  
    

 

   

 

 

(1) Includes patents, trademarks and other intellectual property, valued at acquisition.

Amortization expense for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 was $1.5 million in each period and amortization expense for the six months
ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 was $3.0 million and $3.1 million, respectively. Annual amortization is expected to be $6 million for years 2011 through 2013 and
$5 million for 2014 and 2015.
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Note 5. Comprehensive Income:

Changes in the Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”) component of shareholders’ equity during the six months ended June 30, 2011
and 2010 were as follows:
 

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)   
Translation
adjustments   

Accumulated (losses)
gains on derivatives
qualifying as hedges,

net of tax   

Pension and
postretirement net

liability adjustment,
net of tax   Total  

Balance December 31, 2010   $ (74,826)  $ (4,183)  $ (196,342)  $(275,351) 
Change    38,893    (1,431)   7,710    45,172  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance June 30, 2011   $ (35,933)  $ (5,614)  $ (188,632)  $(230,179) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)   
Translation
adjustments   

Accumulated (losses)
gains on derivatives
qualifying as hedges,

net of tax   

Pension and
postretirement net

liability adjustment,
net of tax   Total  

Balance December 31, 2009   $ (68,606)  $ (2,741)  $ (199,627)  $(270,974) 
Change    (35,896)   (187)   3,451    (32,632) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance June 30, 2010   $(104,502)  $ (2,928)  $ (196,176)  $(303,606) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Note 6. Borrowings:

Debt consists of the following:
 

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)   Rate   Maturities    June 30, 2011   December 31, 2010 
Bank borrowings and overdrafts    0.48%    $ 93,839    $ 11,625  
Current portion of long-term debt    5.38%     122,506     122,274  

       
 

    
 

Total current debt       216,345     133,899  
       

 
    

 

Senior notes - 2007    6.40%   2017-27     500,000     500,000  
Senior notes - 2006    6.10%   2013-16     225,000     225,000  
Bank borrowings    0.48%   2012     30,424     49,771  
Deferred realized gains on interest rate swaps       11,929     12,897  

       
 

    
 

Total long-term debt       767,353     787,668  
       

 
    

 

Total debt      $ 983,698    $ 921,567  
       

 

    

 

The estimated fair value at June 30, 2011 of our Senior Notes - 2007 and Senior Notes - 2006 was approximately $587 million and $353 million,
respectively. The estimated fair value at December 31, 2010 of our Senior Notes - 2007 and Senior Notes - 2006 was approximately $585 million and $357
million, respectively. The fair value of our Senior Notes was calculated using discounted cash flows applying current interest rates and current credit spreads
based on our own credit risk. The estimated fair value of the remainder of our debt at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 approximated the carrying value.

On July 12, 2011, we made a $100 million debt repayment related to our Senior notes - 2006 that is classified as current portion of long-term debt in the
table above. The repayment was funded primarily through existing cash balances with the remainder coming from our existing credit facility.
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Note 7. Income Taxes:

As of June 30, 2011, we had $68 million of gross unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and penalties, recorded in Other liabilities, that if
recognized, would be recorded as a component of income tax expense and would affect our effective tax rate.

We recognized interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. At June 30, 2011, we had accrued $12
million of interest and penalties.

The Company has several tax audits and/or litigation in process and of these, the most significant is related to uncertain tax positions within our European
operations. While the Company believes its position in regard to these matters is in accordance with applicable legislation, the local tax authority is challenging
the Company’s position. The Company has recorded a liability for unrecognized tax benefits, included in the amount above, based on management’s best estimate
of the potential outcomes of these cases. There could be future events or changes in facts or circumstances that could require us to further increase our liability for
unrecognized tax benefits and/or possibly have a material impact on our financial condition, reported results or liquidity.

In addition, we have several other tax audits in process and have open tax years with various taxing jurisdictions that range primarily from 2002 to 2010.
Based on currently available information, we do not believe the ultimate outcome of these tax audits and other tax positions related to open tax years, when
finalized, will have a material impact on our financial position, reported results or liquidity.

The Company regularly repatriates a portion of current year earnings from select non–U.S. subsidiaries. No provision is made for additional taxes on
undistributed earnings of subsidiary companies that are intended and planned to be indefinitely invested in such subsidiaries. We intend to, and have plans to,
reinvest these earnings indefinitely in our foreign subsidiaries to fund local operations and/or capital projects.

The effective tax rate for the three months ended June 30, 2011 was 27.4% compared with 28.3% for the three months ended June 30, 2010. The effective
tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2011 was 27.3% compared with 28.3% for the six months ended June 30, 2010. The 2011 three month and six month
periods include a $5.8 million charge to write off deferred tax assets associated with recent U.S. state law changes enacted during the second quarter 2011. This
charge was substantially offset by several other items, including approximately $2 million related to reserve adjustments on uncertain tax positions and a
favorable mix of earnings and remittances in the 2011 periods as well as the absence of a U.S. Research and Development (R&D) credit in the three and six
month periods 2010. The 2010 periods also benefited from a favorable mix of earnings and remittances, although to a lesser extent than the comparable 2011
periods.

Note 8. Equity Compensation Plans:

We have various plans under which our officers, senior management, other key employees and directors may be granted equity-based awards, including
PRS, restricted stock units (“RSU’s”), SSAR’s or stock options to purchase our common stock.

We offer a Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) for senior management. LTIP plan award payouts are based on meeting certain targeted financial and/or
strategic goals established by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors early in each three-year LTIP cycle. The targeted payout of each active
LTIP cycle is 50% cash and 50% IFF stock. The number of shares for the 50% stock portion is determined by the closing share price on the first trading day at the
beginning of the cycle. Generally, the executive may receive a pro-rated payout for each LTIP cycle based on active service during such cycle.
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We use the Binomial lattice pricing model for estimating the fair value of SSAR’s granted. Principal assumptions used in applying the Binomial model for
SSAR’s granted during the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 were as follows:
 

   2011   2010  
Weighted average fair value of SSAR’s granted during the period   $11.47   $10.41  
Assumptions:    
Risk-free interest rate    1.7%   2.2% 
Expected volatility    23.2%   29.8% 
Expected dividend yield    2.1%   2.2% 
Expected life, in years    5    5  
Termination rate    0.99%   1.09% 
Exercise multiple    1.43    1.38  

Stock option and SSAR activity for the six months ended June 30, 2011 was as follows:
 

(SHARE AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)   Options/SSARs  
Weighted Average

Exercise Price  
Balance at December 31, 2010    1,440   $ 37.46  

Exercised    (377)  $ 37.66  
Granted    78   $ 62.13  

    
 

   
 

Balance at June 30, 2011    1,141   $ 39.03  
    

 

   

 

RSU and PRS activity for the six months ended June 30, 2011 was as follows:
 

(SHARE AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)   RSU   

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value Per Share  

Balance at December 31, 2010    1,029   $ 40.29  
Granted    257   $ 60.48  
Vested    (269)  $ 39.40  
Cancelled    (22)  $ 39.21  

    
 

   
 

Balance at June 30, 2011    995   $ 46.13  
    

 

   

 

(SHARE AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)   PRS   

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value Per Share  

Balance at December 31, 2010    525   $ 19.32  
Granted    170   $ 31.07  
Vested    (194)  $ 20.45  

    
 

   
 

Balance at June 30, 2011    501   $ 22.87  
    

 

   

 

Pre-tax expense related to all forms of equity compensation was as follows:
 

   Three Months Ended June 30,    Six Months Ended June 30,  
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)   2011    2010    2011    2010  
Restricted stock and RSU’s   $ 9,232    $ 4,990    $ 15,155    $ 10,109  
Stock options and SSAR’s    351     329     757     671  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total equity compensation expense   $ 9,583    $ 5,319    $ 15,912    $ 10,780  
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Tax benefits associated with stock-based compensation of $2.9 million and $2.0 million were recognized for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and
2010, respectively, and $5.2 million and $4.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Note 9. Segment Information:

We are organized into two business segments: Flavors and Fragrances. These segments align with the internal structure used to manage these businesses.
Accounting policies used for segment reporting can be found in Note 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our 2010 Form 10-K.
We evaluate the performance of these segments, which we refer to as business units, based on Operating profit before Interest expense, Other expense, net and
Income taxes.

The Global expenses column represents corporate and headquarters-related expenses which include legal, finance, human resources, certain incentive
compensation expenses and other administrative expenses that are not allocated to individual business units.

Our reportable segment information was as follows:
 

   Three Months Ended June 30, 2011  

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)   Flavors    Fragrances    
Global

Expenses   Consolidated 
Net sales   $345,407    $370,182    $ —     $ 715,589  

    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

Operating profit   $ 71,003    $ 58,275    $ (11,293)  $ 117,985  
    

 

    

 

    

 

 

Interest expense         (12,009) 
Other expense, net         (1,055) 

         
 

Income before taxes on income        $ 104,921  
         

 

   Three Months Ended June 30, 2010  

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)   Flavors    Fragrances    
Global

Expenses   Consolidated 
Net sales   $304,323    $361,477    $ —     $ 665,800  

    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

Operating profit   $ 64,507    $ 65,374    $(22,090)  $ 107,791  
    

 

    

 

    

 

 

Interest expense         (12,051) 
Other expense, net         (2,107) 

         
 

Income before taxes on income        $ 93,633  
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   Six Months Ended June 30, 2011  

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)   Flavors    Fragrances    
Global

Expenses   Consolidated  
Net sales   $683,994    $745,866    $ —     $1,429,860  

    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

Operating profit   $149,957    $126,951    $(25,566)  $ 251,342  
    

 

    

 

    

 

 

Interest expense         (23,689) 
Other expense, net         (7,111) 

         
 

Income before taxes on income        $ 220,542  
         

 

   Six Months Ended June 30, 2010  

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)   Flavors    Fragrances    
Global

Expenses   Consolidated  
Net sales   $604,492    $715,218    $ —     $1,319,710  

    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

Operating profit   $126,084    $121,389    $(35,102)  $ 212,371  
    

 

    

 

    

 

 

Interest expense         (24,787) 
Other expense, net         (4,871) 

         
 

Income before taxes on income        $ 182,713  
         

 

Net sales are attributed to individual regions based upon the destination of product delivery. Net sales related to the U.S. for the three months ended
June 30, 2011 and 2010 were $166 million and $158 million, respectively, and for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 $329 million and $309 million,
respectively. Net sales attributed to all foreign countries in total for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 were $550 million and $508 million,
respectively, and for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 $1,101 million and $1,011 million, respectively. No non-U.S. country had net sales in any
period presented greater than 7% of total consolidated net sales.
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Note 10. Retirement Benefits:

Pension expense included the following components:
 

U.S. Plans   Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)   2011   2010   2011   2010  
Service cost for benefits earned   $ 864   $ 910   $ 1,727   $ 1,820  
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation    6,007    5,990    12,014    11,979  
Expected return on plan assets    (6,269)   (6,042)   (12,539)   (12,084) 
Net amortization and deferrals    2,822    1,812    5,645    3,624  
Loss due to curtailments    443    —      443    —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Defined benefit plans    3,867    2,670    7,290    5,339  
Defined contribution and other retirement plans    1,768    1,825    3,658    3,737  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total pension expense   $ 5,635   $ 4,495   $ 10,948   $ 9,076  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Non-U.S. Plans   Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)   2011   2010   2011   2010  
Service cost for benefits earned   $ 2,612   $ 2,637   $ 5,224   $ 5,194  
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation    8,522    8,601    17,044    17,012  
Expected return on plan assets    (11,345)   (10,838)   (22,689)   (21,439) 
Net amortization and deferrals    1,352    1,345    2,705    2,690  
Loss due to settlements and special terminations    3,878    30    3,878    63  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Defined benefit plans    5,019    1,775    6,162    3,520  
Defined contribution and other retirement plans    2,688    1,226    4,090    2,197  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total pension expense   $ 7,707   $ 3,001   $ 10,252   $ 5,717  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

During the second quarter 2011, we have settled a portion of the Ireland pension plan as discussed in Note 3. As a result, we recorded a settlement charge
and a special termination benefit charge of $3.9 million to recognize a portion of the unrecognized loss related to those employees who have accepted the
settlement and for additional benefits credited to those participants accepting a settlement. This settlement was funded primarily through pension plan investment
trust assets.

In connection with negotiations completed during the second quarter 2011, we have amended the pension plan of one of our North American ingredients’
plants. We recorded a curtailment charge of $0.4 million during the three months ended June 30, 2011 to recognize a portion of the unrecognized prior service
costs associated with the years of service no longer expected to be rendered and credited as service under the plan.

We expect to contribute $3.4 million to our qualified U.S. pension plans and $23.4 million to our non-U.S. pension plans during 2011. In the three and six
months ended June 30, 2011, no contributions were made to our qualified U.S. pension plan. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2011, $3.9 million and
$7.4 million of contributions were made to the non-U.S. plans, respectively. In the three and six months ended June 30, 2011, $0.9 million and $1.9 million of
benefit payments were made with respect to our non-qualified U.S. pension plan, respectively.

The financial returns of our pension plan investment trusts during the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 continue to be generally in line with the
markets by asset class.

Expense recognized for postretirement benefits other than pensions included the following components:
 

   Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)   2011   2010   2011   2010  
Service cost for benefits earned   $ 258   $ 410   $ 516   $ 820  
Interest on benefit obligation    1,454    1,643    2,908    3,286  
Net amortization and deferrals    (672)   (489)   (1,344)   (978) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total postretirement benefit expense   $ 1,040   $ 1,564   $ 2,080   $ 3,128  
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We expect to contribute approximately $6 million to our postretirement benefits other than pension plans during 2011. In the three and six months ended
June 30, 2011, $1.3 million and $2.6 million of contributions were made.

Note 11. Financial Instruments:

Fair Value

Accounting guidance on fair value measurements specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques
are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect our market
assumptions. These two types of inputs create the following fair value hierarchy:
 

 •  Level 1–Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.
 

 
•  Level 2–Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active; and

model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are observable in active markets.
 

 •  Level 3–Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers are unobservable.

This hierarchy requires us to use observable market data, when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when determining fair value. We
generally use quoted market prices, as available, to determine fair value, and classify such items in Level 1. We determine the fair value of structured liabilities
(where performance is linked to structured interest rates, inflation or currency risks) using the London InterBank Offer Rate (“LIBOR”) swap curve and forward
interest and exchange rates at period end. Such instruments are classified as Level 2 based on the observability of significant inputs to the model. We do not have
any instruments classified as Level 3. These valuations take into consideration our credit risk and our counterparties’ credit risk. The estimated change in the fair
value of these instruments due to such changes in our own credit risk (or instrument-specific credit risk) was immaterial as of June 30, 2011.

Derivatives

We periodically enter into foreign currency forward contracts with the objective of reducing exposure to cash flow volatility associated with our
intercompany loans, foreign currency receivables and payables, and anticipated purchases of certain raw materials used in operations. These contracts generally
involve the exchange of one currency for a second currency at a future date, have maturities not exceeding twelve months and are with counterparties which are
major international financial institutions.

In 2003, we executed a 10-year Yen - U.S. dollar currency swap related to the monthly sale and purchase of products between the U.S. and Japan which has
been designated as a cash flow hedge.

In 2005, we entered into a six-year interest rate swap agreement effectively converting the fixed rate on our long-term Japanese Yen borrowings to a
variable short-term rate based on the Tokyo InterBank Offering Rate (“TIBOR”) plus an interest markup. This swap was designated as a fair value hedge.
Amounts recognized in Interest expense for all periods presented have been immaterial.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we entered into multiple forward currency contracts which qualified as net investment hedges, in order to
mitigate a portion of our net European investments from foreign currency risk. Six of these forward currency contracts matured during the year ended
December 31, 2010. The remaining outstanding foreign currency forward contacts matured during the six months ended June 30, 2011. Beginning in December
2010, the Company no longer designated these contracts as net investment hedges. Changes due to differences in the exchange rates for these contracts were
recorded in earnings effective December 2010.

During the third quarter of 2010, we entered into two three-year interest rate swap agreements effectively converting the fixed rate on our long term
borrowings to a variable short-term rate based on the LIBOR plus an interest mark-up. These swaps are designated as fair value hedges. Amounts recognized in
Interest expense have been immaterial for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011.
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During the first half of 2011, we entered into multiple forward currency contracts which qualified as net investment hedges, in order to mitigate a portion of
our net European investments from foreign currency risk. The effective portions of net investment hedges are recorded in Other comprehensive income (“OCI”)
as a component of Foreign currency translation adjustments in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Income. Realized gains/(losses) are deferred in
AOCI where they will remain until the net investments in our European subsidiaries are divested. Three of these forward currency contracts matured during the
three and six months ended June 30, 2011. The outstanding forward currency contacts have remaining maturities of less than one year.

During the first half of 2011 and the second half of 2010, we entered into several forward currency contracts which qualified as cash flow hedges. The
objective of these hedges is to protect against the currency risk associated with forecasted US Dollar (USD) denominated raw material purchases made by Euro
(EUR) functional currency entities which result from changes in the EUR/USD exchange rate. The effective portions of cash flow hedges are recorded in OCI as
a component of (Losses) gains on derivatives qualifying as hedges in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Income. Realized gains/(losses) in AOCI
related to cash flow hedges of raw material purchases are recognized as a component of Cost of goods sold in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of
Income in the same period as the related costs are recognized.

The following table shows the notional amount of the Company’s derivative instruments outstanding as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010:
 

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)   June 30, 2011   December 31, 2010 
Forward currency contracts   $ 212,700    $ 141,050  
Interest rate swaps   $ 116,209    $ 116,209  

 
14



The following tables show the Company’s derivative instruments measured at fair value (Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy), as reflected in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010:
 

   June 30, 2011  

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)   

Fair Value of
Derivatives

Designated as
Hedging

Instruments    

Fair Value of
Derivatives Not
Designated as

Hedging
Instruments    

Total Fair
Value  

Derivative assets       
Foreign currency contracts   $ 139    $ 2,073    $ 2,212  
Interest rate swaps    425     —       425  

    
 

    
 

    
 

  $ 564    $ 2,073    $ 2,637  
Derivative liabilities       

Foreign currency contracts   $ 9,646    $ 3,825    $13,471  

   December 31, 2010  

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)   

Fair Value of
Derivatives

Designated as
Hedging

Instruments    

Fair Value of
Derivatives Not
Designated as

Hedging
Instruments    

Total Fair
Value  

Derivative assets       
Foreign currency contracts   $ 2,984    $ 1,491    $ 4,475  
Interest rate swaps    112     —       112  

    
 

    
 

    
 

  $ 3,096    $ 1,491    $ 4,587  
Derivative liabilities       

Foreign currency contracts   $ 7,086    $ 9,276    $16,362  
Interest rate swaps    348     —       348  

    
 

    
 

    
 

  $ 7,434    $ 9,276    $16,710  
 

Derivative assets are recorded to Prepaid expenses and other current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
All derivative liabilities are recorded as Other current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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The following table shows the effect of the Company’s derivative instruments which were not designated as hedging instruments in the Consolidated
Statement of Income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):
 

Derivatives Not Designated as
Hedging Instruments under
ASC 815

  

Amount of (Loss) Gain
Recognized in Income on

Derivative    
Location of (Loss)

Gain Recognized in
Income on
Derivative  

For the three months ended
June 30,    

   2011   2010     
Foreign currency contracts   $ (5,299)  $ 16,342    Other expense, net

Derivatives Not Designated as
Hedging Instruments under
ASC 815

  

Amount of (Loss) Gain
Recognized in Income on

Derivative    
Location of (Loss)

Gain Recognized in
Income on
Derivative  

For the six months ended
June 30,    

   2011   2010     
Foreign currency contracts   $ (11,435)  $ 14,442    Other expense, net

Most of these net losses offset any recognized gains arising from the revaluation of the related intercompany loans during the same respective periods.
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The following table shows the effect of the Company’s derivative instruments designated as cash flow and net investment hedging instruments in the
Consolidated Statements of Income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):
 

   

Amount of (Loss) Gain
Recognized in OCI on
Derivative (Effective

Portion)   

Location of (Loss)
Gain Reclassified

from Accumulated
OCI into Income

(Effective Portion)   

Amount of (Loss) Gain
Reclassified from

Accumulated OCI into
Income (Effective

Portion)  

   
For the three months

ended June 30,      
For the three months

ended June 30,  
   2011   2010      2011   2010  
Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships:       
Cross currency swap   $ 93   $ (465)  Other expense, net  $ (562)  $ (314) 
Forward currency contracts   $ 538   $ 1,030   Cost of goods sold  $ (1,623)  $ —    
Derivatives in Net Investment Hedging Relationships:        
Forward currency contracts   $ (962)  $ 4,185   N/A   $ —     $ —    
Total   $ (331)  $ 4,750     $ (2,185)  $ (314) 

    

 

   

 

     

 

   

 

   

Amount of (Loss) Gain
Recognized in OCI on
Derivative (Effective

Portion)   

Location of (Loss)
Gain Reclassified

from Accumulated
OCI into Income

(Effective Portion)   

Amount of (Loss) Gain
Reclassified from

Accumulated OCI into
Income (Effective

Portion)  

   
For the six months

ended June 30,      
For the six months

ended June 30,  
   2011   2010      2011   2010  
Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships:        
Cross currency swap   $ 670   $ (184)  Other expense, net  $ (1,087)  $ (297) 
Forward currency contract   $ (2,126)  $ 1,030   Cost of goods sold  $ (2,620)  $ —    
Derivatives in Net Investment Hedging Relationships:        
Forward currency contract   $ (2,413)  $ 4,809   N/A   $ —     $ —    
Total   $ (3,869)  $ 5,655     $ (3,707)  $ (297) 

    

 

   

 

     

 

   

 

 
Ten year swap executed in 2003
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No ineffectiveness was experienced in the above noted cash flow hedges during the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010. The ineffective
portion of the net investment hedges was not material during the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010.

The Company expects that approximately $3.7 million (net of tax) of derivative losses included in AOCI at June 30, 2011, based on current market rates,
will be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months. The portion of derivative losses in AOCI associated with open hedge positions, which represents
approximately half of this amount, will vary due to fluctuations in exchange rates until the contracts are closed.

Note 12. Commitments and Contingencies:

At June 30, 2011, we had outstanding bank guarantees and undrawn letters of credit from financial institutions. These relate to normal business operations
principally as a result of commercial and governmental requirements.

The Company assesses contingencies related to litigation and/or other matters to determine the degree of probability and range of possible loss. A loss
contingency is accrued in the Company’s consolidated financial statements if it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be
reasonably estimated. Because litigation is inherently unpredictable and unfavorable resolutions could occur, assessing contingencies is highly sensitive and
requires judgments about future events. On at least a quarterly basis, the Company reviews contingencies related to litigation to determine the adequacy of
accruals. The amount of ultimate loss may differ from these estimates and further events may require the Company to increase or decrease the amounts it has
accrued on any matter. It is possible that cash flows or results of operations could be materially affected, with respect to any particular period, by the unfavorable
or favorable resolution of one or more of these contingencies.

Popcorn Flavor Litigation

We are party to a number of lawsuits and claims related primarily to flavoring supplied by us and by other third party suppliers, in most instances to
manufacturers of butter flavored popcorn. A total of 16 actions involving approximately 260 claimants are currently pending against us and other flavor suppliers
and related companies based on similar claims of alleged respiratory illness. In certain cases, plaintiffs are unable to demonstrate that they have suffered a
compensable loss as a result of such exposure, or that injuries incurred in fact resulted from exposure to our flavor products. In most of the complaints, the
damages sought by the plaintiffs are not alleged at the pleading stage and may not be required to be specified until a much later time in the proceeding, if at all.

On at least a quarterly basis, we review the status of each pending claim, as well as our insurance coverage for such claims with due consideration given to
potentially applicable deductibles, retentions and reservation of rights under insurance policies with respect to all these matters. The liabilities are recorded at
management’s best estimate of the outcome of the lawsuits and claims, taking into consideration the facts and circumstances of the individual matters as well as
past experience on similar matters. Amounts accrued are also based upon our historical experience with these claims, including claims which have been closed
with no liability as well as claims settled to date. Settled claims, since the inception of the flavor-related claims, have not been material to us in any reporting
period after giving effect to insurance recovery. At each balance sheet date, the key issues that management assesses are whether it is probable that a loss as to
asserted or unasserted claims has been incurred and if so, whether the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated.

While the ultimate outcome of any litigation cannot be predicted, management believes that we have adequately accrued with respect to all known claims.
Based on information presently available and in light of the merits of our defenses and the availability of insurance, we do not expect the outcome of the above
cases, singly or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, reported results or liquidity. There can be no assurance that future
events will not require us to increase the amount we have accrued for any matter or accrue for a matter that has not been previously accrued.

We periodically assess our insurance coverage for all known claims, taking into account aggregate coverages by occurrence, limits of coverage, self-
insured retentions and deductibles, historical claims experience and claims experience with insurers. We record the expected liability with respect to these claims
in Other liabilities and expected recoveries from our insurance carrier group in Other assets. We believe that realization of the insurance receivable is probable
due to the terms of the insurance policies and the payment experience to date of the carrier group as it relates to these claims.
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Patent Claims

A complaint, captioned V. Mane Fils S.A. v. International Flavors and Fragrances Inc. was filed in U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey in May
2006, and alleges that the Company has and continues to infringe U.S. Patent Nos. 5,725,856 and 5,843,466, relating to a flavor ingredient that may provide a
cooling effect. The Company answered the complaint by denying liability, asserting that both patents are invalid and various other defenses. In June 2008,
plaintiff amended its complaint to add claims for violations of the Lanham Act, tortious interference and unfair competition. The Company answered the amended
complaint by denying all liability. In connection with the patent claims, the plaintiff seeks monetary damages, damages for alleged willful infringement,
injunctive relief and fees, costs and interest. In connection with the additional claims, plaintiff also seeks monetary damages, punitive damages, fees and costs. In
May 2010, following reexamination of the patents in question by the U.S. Patent Office, all of the patent claims, initially rejected in the reexamination proceeding
were reallowed. The Company and the plaintiff have each filed motions for summary judgment with respect to various claims. No trial date has been scheduled,
although the Court has indicated that a trial may be scheduled for October 2011. The Company denies the allegations and will defend its position in Court.

We analyze our liability on at least a quarterly basis and accrue for litigation loss contingencies when they are probable and estimable. During the second
quarter 2010, we recorded a provision related to this case which is reflected in Other liabilities. The Company is unable to reasonably estimate the amount or
realistic range of reasonably possible losses above its recorded liability, if any, that might result if the outcome of this matter is unfavorable. Based on present
information, the Company believes that its ultimate liability, if any, arising from this proceeding would not have a material adverse effect on its financial position
or liquidity; however, due to the unpredictability regarding the litigation process, such claims, if ultimately resolved against us, could potentially have a material
adverse effect on our cash flows or results of operations in a particular period. An adverse outcome could also potentially affect our ability to sell one or more
flavor products to the extent the Court ultimately issued an injunction related to the patents. The Company disputes the allegations of wrongdoing, believes it has
meritorious defenses and is vigorously defending all claims.

Environmental

Over the past approximately 20 years, various federal and state authorities and private parties have claimed that we are a Potentially Responsible Party
(“PRP”) as a generator of waste materials for alleged pollution at a number of waste sites operated by third parties located principally in New Jersey and have
sought to recover costs incurred and to be incurred to clean up the sites.

We have been identified as a PRP at ten facilities operated by third parties at which investigation and/or remediation activities may be ongoing. We analyze
our liability on a regular basis and accrue for environmental liabilities when they are probable and estimable. At June 30, 2011, we estimated our share of the total
future costs for these sites to be less than $5 million.

While joint and several liability is authorized under federal and state environmental laws, we believe that the amounts we have paid and anticipate paying
in the future for clean-up costs and damages at all sites are not and will not be material to our financial condition, reported results or liquidity. This conclusion is
based upon, among other things, the involvement of other PRP’s at most sites, the status of the proceedings, including various settlement agreements and consent
decrees, the extended time period over which payment will likely be made and an agreement reached in July 1994 with three of our liability insurers pursuant to
which defense costs and indemnity amounts payable by us in respect of the sites will be shared by the insurers up to an agreed amount.

Other Contingencies

We also have contingencies principally related to the jurisdictions in which we operate including such items as value-add taxes and other indirect taxes,
customs and duties and sales and use taxes.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

We are a leading global creator of flavors and fragrances used in a wide variety of consumer products. The flavor and fragrance market can be
characterized as large (approximately $16 billion); however the exact size of the global market is limited due to fragmentation. We estimate that the overall
market is growing at two to three percent per year, with the top four companies growing faster than the market. Customer expansion, disposable income growth
and technological advancements are all structural drivers of growth. Changing social habits resulting from increases in personal income, health and wellness and
urbanization are stimulating demand for consumer products utilizing flavors and fragrances, especially in the emerging markets. These developments also drive
the creation and development of new molecules, technologies and solutions that facilitate and improve the end-use consumption of flavors and fragrances in
consumer products.

IFF is organized into two units that reflect our flavor and fragrance businesses. Flavor compounds are sold to the food and beverage industries for use in
consumer products such as prepared foods, beverages, dairy, food and confectionery products. The fragrance business unit consists of three fragrance categories:
functional fragrances, including fragrance compounds for personal care (e.g., soaps) and household products (e.g., detergents and cleaning agents); fine fragrance
and beauty care, including perfumes, colognes and toiletries; and ingredients, consisting of natural and synthetic ingredients that can be combined with other
materials to create unique functional and fine fragrance compounds. Major fragrance customers include the cosmetics industry, including perfume and toiletries
manufacturers, and the household products industry, including manufacturers of soaps, detergents, fabric care, household cleaners and air fresheners.
Approximately more than half of our ingredient production is consumed internally; the balance is sold to third party customers.

STRATEGIC DRIVERS

To increase shareholder value, we strive for growth that is both profitable and sustainable, by delivering what we believe to be superior flavor and
fragrance solutions to our customers. By focusing on our core competencies of consumer insight, research and development, creative expertise and customer
intimacy, and doing so in a cost effective manner, we believe we can drive commercial performance and improve shareholder value.

The basis of our strategy focuses on leveraging our geographic reach, strengthening our innovation platform and maximizing our portfolio. With over 75
percent of our sales currently flowing from outside the United States, and 45 percent from key emerging markets, we believe we are well-positioned to capture
future growth.

At IFF, we believe our ability to deliver superior innovation is one of our greatest opportunities as a company going forward. Innovation is instrumental in
driving new business, as it is an integral part of our customers’ brands.

Through an in-depth assessment of our regions, categories, and customers, we are able to identify opportunities where we can accelerate our performance
by further leveraging our advantaged portfolio and improving those areas that are underperforming. Moving forward, as we maximize our portfolio, we will be in
a stronger position to help grow our customers’ brands and to help deliver greater financial returns for our shareholders.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

Reported sales were up 7% year-over-year driven by our success in winning new business, especially in the emerging markets, and aided by the weakening
of the U.S. dollar against several currencies (mostly the EURO). Excluding currency impacts, we achieved growth of 3% in the second quarter 2011 in the face of
high double-digit growth last year. Our Flavors business led the local currency (LC) sales performance as its high single-digit gains more than offset the lower
base business volume in Fragrances, which had exceptionally strong year-ago growth comparables. Our gross margins were down in the quarter as higher raw
material costs were only partially offset by our sales performance and the realization of price increases. While there have been signs of relief in energy costs and
some signs of stability of raw material costs, we expect that raw material costs will remain at elevated levels (especially within the Fragrance business) for the
next few quarters; we will need to realize additional price increases in order to recover these expected cost increases. Operating leverage and strict cost discipline
led to a 30 basis point (“bps”) improvement in our operating margin including $2 million (20 bps) of additional costs relating to restructuring in 2011. Our cash
flow from operations has declined versus the comparable basis last year, as higher earnings were more than offset by increased incentive compensation, tax, and
trade payments, and higher volume
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driven receivables and its associated inventory requirements. We will continue to focus on reducing our working capital levels and improving our operating cash
flow.

Operations

Comparison of Second Quarters of 2011 and 2010

Sales Commentary

Second quarter 2011 sales totaled $716 million, an increase of 7% from the prior year quarter. Overall, the U.S. dollar weakened versus a year-ago for most
of the currencies that we do business in. Excluding currency impacts, local currency (LC) sales grew by 3%, reflecting continued success from net new business
with customers combined with the realization of price increases that are being implemented to mitigate the effects of higher raw material costs. These benefits
were substantially offset by weak volume in our Ingredients business and normal expected erosion in Fragrance compounds. Overall, LC growth was driven by
6% growth in the emerging markets.

On a reported basis, Flavors’ sales increased 14%; excluding the impact of foreign currency, LC sales for the Flavors business increased 8% from the prior
year period. Approximately two-thirds of the increase was driven by net new business with our customers, with growth in the underlying demand for our
customers’ products and realization of price increases representing the balance of the increase. LC growth was led by double-digit gains in Savory combined with
high single digit gains in Beverage and Confectionery. Regionally, the business benefited from mid to high single-digit growth in all regions. Sales in North
America (NOAM) were up 9% substantially driven by the success of net new business across a broad base of customers in Savory, which realized substantial
growth (well above 20%). The improvements in Europe, Africa, and Middle East (EAME) were broad-based; however the vast majority of the gains were in the
emerging market countries within the region. Confectionery led LC gains with growth approaching 20%. Greater Asia (GA) LC growth was driven by significant
double-digit gains in Beverages and Confectionery, combined with mid-single digit growth in Savory. Latin America’s LC growth of 4% reflects double digit
growth in Confectionery and Savory, whereas Beverages was essentially flat year-over-year primarily as a result of lower volumes with certain regional
customers. Overall growth was led by double-digit growth in emerging markets of 12%.

Sales for the Fragrance business increased 2% on a reported basis, but was down 2% in LC terms, given very strong year-ago comparables (+21%). New
business performance with our customers plus realization of price increases was more than offset by erosion in the Fragrance Compounding business and lower
sales activity in Ingredients. The year-over-year LC sales erosion was most prevalent in our Fine Fragrance and Ingredients categories (each down approximately
4-5% in LC), both of which had exceptional prior year LC growth performance (approximately 50% and 25%, respectively in Q2 2010). Overall, our Functional
Fragrance was up slightly on a LC sales basis as new business performance and realization of price increases effectively offset weakness in underlying demand
and consumption at several key customers. Growth at the regional level continued to be led by GA at +5%, principally due to net new business and realization of
price increases in Fabric Care, partially offset by weaker volumes in our other product categories. North America was up 1%, as strong growth in Home Care
(well above 20%) was offset by volume declines in Fine Fragrance and other Functional categories. The declines in EAME and Latin America were due to
volume erosion plus declines in underlying demand and consumption that were partially offset by the benefits from new business wins and realization of price
increases.
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Sales performance by region and product category in comparison to the prior year quarter in both reported dollars and local currency, where applicable, was
as follows:
 
   % Change in Sales-Second Quarter 2011 vs Second Quarter 2010  

      

Fine &
Beauty 

Care   Functional  Ingredients  Total Frag.  Flavors  Total 
North America   Reported    1%   4%   -3%   1%   9%   5% 
EAME   Reported    7%   6%   0%   5%   19%   10% 

  Local Currency    -3%   -3%   -7%   -4%   9%   0% 
Latin America   Reported    -8%   -1%   -13%   -5%   7%   -1% 

  Local Currency    -11%   -1%   -15%   -7%   4%   -3% 
Greater Asia   Reported    1%   7%   17%   7%   15%   12% 

  Local Currency    -1%   6%   11%   5%   8%   7% 
Total   Reported    1%   5%   0%   2%   14%   7% 

  Local Currency    -4%   1%   -5%   -2%   8%   3% 
 

 

•  North America Fine & Beauty Care sales were up 1% in the current quarter despite exceptionally strong year-ago comparables (+24%). The
improvement was driven by net new business and pricing that offset erosion in base business. Functional Fragrance sales were up 4% as net new
business, higher volumes (notably in Home Care with growth well above 20%) and the realization of price increases across all categories offset
declines in underlying demand and consumption in Fabric Care and Personal Wash. The strong growth in our Flavors business was led by net new
business performance and volume gains which drove LC growth well above 20% in the Savory category, partially offset by volume declines in our
Confectionery and Dairy categories.

 

 

•  EAME sales in LC terms were essentially flat as strong growth in Flavors (led by Confectionery approaching 20%) resulting from net new business,
especially in our emerging markets in the region, that were offset by lower volumes and reduced demand in the Fine Fragrance, Functional and
Ingredients categories that far exceeded new win performance in these categories. Fine and Beauty Care and Ingredients had prior year LC growth of
55% and 29%, respectively. Realization of price increases accelerated in the quarter.

 

 

•  Latin America sales performance declined 3% as new business wins and realization of price increases drove double-digit gains in the Confectionery
and Savory categories and solid gains in Fabric Care. Realization of price increases continued to improve across substantially all the categories.
These benefits were more than offset by double-digit volume decreases in Ingredients and Fine and Beauty Care compared to LC growth of 27% and
31%, respectively, in the prior year as well as general demand weakness in Home Care and Personal Wash categories.

 

 
•  GA delivered solid LC sales growth of 7%, led by double-digit gains in Beverages, Fabric Care and Confectionery resulting from net new business

and higher volumes. The remaining growth was due to higher volumes in our Ingredients’ business and realization of price increases across most
categories. Partially offsetting these benefits was general volume weakness in Beauty Care, Home Care and Personal Wash.
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Consolidated Operating Results

The percentage relationship of cost of goods sold and other operating expenses to reported sales is as follows:
 

   Three months ended June 30,  
   2011   2010  
Cost of goods sold    60.3%   57.2% 
Research and development expenses    7.9%   8.4% 
Selling and administrative expenses    14.8%   18.0% 

Cost of goods sold, as a percentage of sales, increased 310 bps in 2011 compared to 2010. The change versus last year reflects significantly higher raw
material costs (especially in Fragrances) partially offset by margin recovery efforts and operating leverage in both businesses as well as benefits associated with
the European Fragrances rationalization that was completed in late 2010. In the second quarter 2010, raw material costs for our Fragrance business were at their
lowest level. This, coupled with a very strong sales performance during that same period, resulted in margin expansion and very strong comparable results last
year.

R&D expenses increased approximately $0.4 million from the prior year quarter. The increase was due to additional targeted investments to support our
strategic growth initiatives and slightly lower tax credits, partially offset by lower provisions (approximately $5 million) for incentive compensation.

Selling and administrative expenses (S&A), as a percentage of sales, decreased 320 bps to 14.8% versus 18.0% in the prior period. Overall spending
decreased $13.3 million versus the prior year quarter, driven by lower provisions for incentive compensation, reductions in litigation related costs and continued
discipline in the management of costs.

Interest Expense

In the second quarter of 2011, interest expense was essentially unchanged versus a year ago at $12.0 million. Average cost of debt was 4.8% for both the
2011 and 2010 periods.

Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net was $1.1 million in the second quarter of 2011 versus $2.1 million in the second quarter 2010. The change was due to higher foreign
exchange losses on outstanding working capital exposures, principally associated with a general weakening of the U.S. dollar during the quarter.

Income Taxes

The effective tax rate was 27.4% for the three months ended June 30, 2011 as compared to a rate of 28.3% in the prior year quarter. The current period
included a $5.8 million write-off of deferred tax assets as a result of recent U.S. state law changes enacted during the quarter. This charge was essentially offset by
several items, including reserve adjustments on uncertain tax positions and a favorable mix in earnings and remittances. The 2010 period was also favorably
impacted by the mix in earnings and remittances, although to a lesser extent than the 2011 period. The 2010 tax rate was negatively affected by the absence of a
U.S. R&D credit in the quarter.

Operating Results by Business Unit

We evaluate the performance of business units based on operating profit before Interest expense, Other expense, net and Income taxes. See Note 9 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements for the reconciliation to Income before taxes.

Flavors

In the second quarter 2011, Flavors operating profit totaled $71 million, or 20.6% as a percentage of sales, compared to $65 million or 21.2% in 2010. The
higher operating profit was driven by the strong sales growth, realization of price increases, and increased manufacturing and operating cost leverage. These
benefits were partially
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offset by effects of higher raw material costs and less favorable sales mix, which increased as a percentage of sales by approximately 210 bps versus the prior year
period. Operating profit also benefited from favorable foreign currency exchange rate movements of 20 bps.
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Fragrances

Fragrance operating profit for the second quarter of 2011 was $58 million, or 15.7% as a percentage of sales, compared to $65 million, or 18.1% in 2010.
The 2011 and 2010 periods included $4 million and $2 million, respectively, of restructuring related charges related to the rationalization of our European
fragrance manufacturing footprint. Excluding these restructuring charges from each period, operating profit decreased $5 million to $62 million 16.8% of sales) in
2011 versus $67 million (18.6% of sales) during 2010. The decline in profit was driven by higher raw material costs (that increased approximately 400 bps year-
over-year) and lower sales volume that more than offset the realization of price increases, benefits associated with the European restructuring, other profit
improvement initiatives, and lower incentive compensation expenses. Operating margin also benefited from favorable foreign currency exchange rate movements
of 50 bps.

Global Expenses

Global expenses represent corporate and headquarters-related expenses which include legal, finance, human resources and other administrative expenses
that are not allocated to an individual business unit. In 2011, Global expenses for the second quarter were $11 million compared to $22 million during the second
quarter of 2010. The decrease was primarily attributable to reduced provisions for incentive compensation programs, lower litigation related costs and ongoing
cost discipline efforts.

Comparison of First Six Months of 2011 and 2010

Sales Commentary

Sales in the first six months of 2011 totaled $1,430 million, an increase of 8% from the prior year. Excluding currency impacts, local currency (LC) sales
grew by 6%, driven principally by net new business, combined with realization of price increases that has been implemented to mitigate the effects of higher raw
material costs. More than half of the LC sales growth was attributable to our new win performance across both business units, as realization of price increases was
more than offset by volume declines and base business erosion in Fragrances. Overall LC growth was driven by 9% growth in the emerging markets.

On a reported basis, Flavors’ sales increased 13%; excluding the impact of foreign currency, LC sales for the Flavors business increased 10% from the
prior year period. More than half of the increase was driven by net new business with our customers, followed by growth in the underlying demand for our
customers’ products and realization of price increases. The sales growth includes the impact of exiting approximately $2 million (including $1 million in the
second quarter 2011) of less profitable non-strategic business. LC growth was led by double-digit gains in Savory and Beverages and near double-digit gains in
Confectionery, all of which benefited from net new business, higher volumes and pricing. Regionally, the business benefited from double digit growth in North
America and EAME whereas GA grew high single digits in LC terms. Sales in North America were up 13% substantially driven by new business performance,
mainly within the Savory (with growth in excess of 20%) and Beverage categories. The improvements in EAME were broad-based; with all categories up high
single or double-digit percent versus last year; however, the vast majority of the gains were in the emerging market countries within the region. GA’s LC growth
of 8% was driven by double-digit gains in Beverages followed by mid to high single-digit gains in Confectionery, Savory and Dairy. Latin America’s LC growth
of 4% was driven by double-digit gains in Confectionery and Dairy that were somewhat offset by lower Beverage volume. Overall growth was led by double-
digit growth in emerging markets of 12%.

The Fragrance business contributed a solid sales performance with year-over-year sales up 4% on a reported basis and 2% in LC terms, despite very strong
year-ago comparables (20% LC growth in 2010). Continued strong new business performance with our customers combined with realization of price increases to
more than offset the effects of erosion in base sales volumes and weaker demand and consumption in the second quarter of 2011. The year-over-year LC
improvement was led by 4% growth in Fine & Beauty Care, versus growth of 32% last year, plus double-digit gains in Home Care. These improvements were
driven by strong net new business. Overall, our Functional Fragrance LC sales were up 2% as the improvements in Home Care were partially offset lower
volumes in Personal Wash. Our Ingredients’ business declined 1% compared to the prior year period. Growth within the regions was led by GA at 7%, mainly due
to net new business and slightly higher volumes, led by double-digit gains in our Fabric Care category. The growth in EAME and Latin America was due to solid
new business performance in Fine and Beauty Care, partially offset by lower base business volumes in Fabric Care and Personal Wash. NOAM sales were up
slightly as net new business and volume gains in Home Care (+50%) were offset by base business volume erosion in the other categories.
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Overall growth was led by solid growth in emerging markets of 6%, which represented more than 40% of total Fragrance sales.

Sales performance by region and product category in comparison to the prior year period in both reported dollars and local currency, where applicable, was
as follows:
 
      % Change in Sales - First Six Months 2011 vs. First  Six Months 2010  

      
Fine &

Beauty Care  Functional  Ingredients  Total Frag.  Flavors  Total 
North America   Reported    -3%   3%   2%   1%   13%   7% 
EAME   Reported    12%   1%   -1%   5%   16%   9% 

  Local Currency    8%   -2%   -3%   2%   12%   5% 
Latin America   Reported    7%   0%   -7%   2%   6%   3% 

  Local Currency    5%   -1%   -8%   1%   4%   2% 
Greater Asia   Reported    5%   11%   9%   9%   13%   12% 

  Local Currency    3%   10%   6%   7%   8%   8% 
Total   Reported    7%   4%   1%   4%   13%   8% 

  Local Currency    4%   2%   -1%   2%   10%   6% 
 

 

•  North America’s LC growth was led by Flavors as strong net new business gains and realization of price increases in Savory and Beverages more
than offset volume declines in Dairy. Fine & Beauty Care sales declined 3% as a result of very strong year-ago comparables of +23% (including re-
stocking benefits in 2010) combined with lower volume and consumption by certain key customers, particularly in the second quarter 2011.
Functional Fragrance sales were up 3% versus last year as new business wins and volume gains in Home Care offset volume erosion in Fabric Care
and Personal Wash.

 

 

•  EAME LC growth was led by 12% growth in Flavors resulting from high single-digit or double-digit growth in all categories. The growth was
mainly due to net new business within our emerging markets in the region, as well as realization of price increases and volume. Fine & Beauty Care,
with LC growth of 42% in the prior year, drove the Fragrance improvement benefiting from strong new business and realization of price increases
that more than offset volume declines in our Fabric Care, Ingredients, and Personal Wash businesses.

 

 

•  Latin America sales performance was driven by double-digit growth in Fine Fragrances (reflecting net new business, pricing and growth in our
customers’ business); whereas new business performance and pricing in Functional Fragrance was offset by volume erosion with our customers.
Flavors’ growth was led by both new business and volume gains in Confectionery and Savory, which more than offset the volume erosion in
Beverages.

 

 
•  GA delivered solid LC sales growth, led by double-digit gains in Fabric Care, Beverages and Fine Fragrances, combined with solid growth in

Confectionery, Savory and Ingredients. Volume gains with customers and commercial performance of net new business were essentially equal
contributors to the growth.

Consolidated Operating Results

The percentage relationship of cost of goods sold and other operating expenses to reported sales is as follows:
 

   Six months ended June 30,  
   2011   2010  
Cost of goods sold    59.3%   57.9% 
Research and development expenses    8.0%   8.2% 
Selling and administrative expenses    14.9%   17.2% 

Cost of goods sold, as a percentage of sales, increased 140 bps in 2011 compared to 2010. The increase versus last year was mainly driven by higher raw
material costs, combined with less favorable sales mix. Overall, raw material costs have increased approximately 200 bps, as a percent of sales, on a year-over-
year basis. These effects
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were partially offset by improved operating leverage, ongoing margin recovery efforts in both businesses, and benefits associated with the European
rationalization that was completed in late 2010.

R&D expenses increased approximately $5 million from the prior year. The increase was due to additional targeted investments to support our strategic
growth initiatives and lower tax credits, partially offset by lower provisions for incentive compensation.

S&A, as a percentage of sales, decreased 230 bps to 14.9% versus 17.2% last year. Overall spending decreased $15 million versus the prior year driven by
lower provisions for incentive compensation, reduced litigation related costs and ongoing cost discipline that more than offset planned investment in commercial
activities (mainly in emerging markets) to support our growth initiatives.

Interest Expense

In the first six months of 2011, interest expense was down $1.1 million to $24 million. Average cost of debt was 4.8% for the 2011 period compared to
4.9% in 2010.

Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net was $7.1 million in the first six months of 2011 versus $4.9 million in the first six months of 2010. The change was due to higher
foreign exchange losses on outstanding working capital exposures, principally associated with a general weakening of the U.S. dollar, principally during the first
quarter.

Income Taxes

The effective tax rate was 27.3% for the first six months of 2011 as compared to a rate of 28.3% in the prior year. The current period included a $5.8
million write-off of deferred tax assets as a result of recent U.S. state law changes enacted during the quarter. This charge was essentially offset by several items,
including reserve adjustments on uncertain tax positions and a favorable mix in earnings and remittances. The 2010 period was also favorably impacted by the
mix in earnings and remittances, although to a lesser extent than the 2011 period. The 2010 tax rate was negatively affected by the absence of an U.S. R&D credit
in the six month period.

Restructuring and Other Charges

Restructuring and other charges primarily consist of separation costs for employees, including severance, outplacement and other benefit costs.

The Company completed its negotiations with the Drogheda, Ireland employee representatives during the third quarter 2010 and ceased manufacturing
operations at the plant as of September 30, 2010.

During the second quarter 2011, the Company executed a partial settlement of its pension obligations with the former employees of the Drogheda facility.
As a result we recorded a charge of $3.9 million to cover settlements and special termination benefits during the quarter. This settlement was funded primarily
through pension plan investment trust assets.

In total we have recorded expenses of $34.7 million relating to this rationalization, of which $28.4 million was recorded to Restructuring and other charges,
net and $6.3 million recorded to Costs of goods sold and Research, Selling and Administrative expenses. We do not anticipate any further expenses related to this
rationalization.
 

       Restructuring Charges      
   Three months ended June 30,    Six months ended June 30,  
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)   2011    2010    2011    2010  
Fragrances   $ 3,985    $ 1,843    $ 4,013    $ 6,831  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $ 3,985    $ 1,843    $ 4,013    $ 6,831  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Operating Results by Business Unit
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We evaluate the performance of business units based on operating profit before Interest expense, Other expense, net and Income taxes. See Note 9 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements for the reconciliation to Income before taxes.

Flavors

In the first six months of 2011, Flavors operating profit totaled $150 million, or 21.9% as a percentage of sales, compared to $126 million or 20.9% in the
comparable 2010 period. The improvement in profitability was mainly driven by strong sales growth and increased operating leverage, combined with realization
of price increases and margin improvement initiatives that more than offset the effects of higher raw material costs and less favorable sales mix.

Fragrances

Fragrance operating profit for the first six months of 2011 was $127 million or 17.0% as a percentage of sales, compared to $121 million or 17.0% reported
in 2010. The 2010 period included $7 million of restructuring related charges as compared to $4 million in 2011 related to the rationalization of our European
fragrance manufacturing footprint. Excluding restructuring charges in the first six months of each period, operating profit increased $3 million to $131 million
(17.6% of sales) versus $128 million (17.9% of sales) during 2010. The increase in profit was driven by higher volumes, realization of price increases, the
benefits of the European restructuring, other margin improvement initiatives, and lower incentive compensation, partially offset by higher raw material costs.

Global Expenses

Global expenses represent corporate and headquarters-related expenses which include legal, finance, human resources and other administrative expenses
that are not allocated to an individual business unit. In 2011, Global expenses for the first six months were $26 million compared to $35 million during the first
six months of 2010. The decline reflects reduced provisions for incentive compensation, lower litigation related costs and continued cost discipline.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We had cash and cash equivalents of $123 million at June 30, 2011 compared to $131 million at December 31, 2010. At June 30, 2011, approximately
$64 million of our cash balance was held outside the United States. Cash balances held in foreign jurisdictions could be repatriated to the United States; however,
they would be subject to United States federal income taxes, less applicable foreign tax credits. The Company has not provided United States income tax expense
on earnings of its foreign subsidiaries because it intends to, and has plans to, reinvest the undistributed earnings indefinitely.

Working capital of $811 million at June 30, 2011 increased $147 million compared to $664 million at December 31, 2010. Additions to property, plant and
equipment for the six month period ended June 30, 2011 totaled $46 million versus $37 million in the prior year period. The increase in spending versus last year
reflects planned investments in capacity and new technologies, mainly in the emerging markets. Gross additions to property, plant and equipment are expected to
approximate 5% of sales for the full year 2011.

Operating cash flows in the first half of 2011 were an inflow of $2 million, compared to an inflow of $128 million in the prior year period. The decrease
reflects the effects of higher incentive compensation payments made in 2011 as a result of strong 2010 performance, tax and trade payable payments plus the
effect of higher sales on receivables and inventory requirements that were partially offset by increased earnings.

Receivables increased approximately $90 million versus December 31, 2010, including approximately $15 million related to currency movements, with the
remainder principally related to higher sales levels versus the fourth quarter 2010.

Payables decreased approximately $35 million versus December 31, 2010, reflecting the settlement of year-end invoices during the first quarter 2011 as
well as reduced capital spending versus the fourth quarter 2010.

Historically, we generate strong operating cash flows and our multi-year revolving credit agreement (the “Facility”) remains in place. Cash flows from
operations and availability under our existing credit facilities are
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expected to be sufficient to fund our currently anticipated normal capital spending and other expected cash requirements for at least the next eighteen months.

At June 30, 2011, we had $984 million of debt outstanding compared to the $922 million outstanding at December 31, 2010. The increase in debt was
mostly driven by increased short-term borrowings under our revolver to fund short-term working capital requirements.

On July 12, 2011, we made a $100 million debt repayment related to our Senior notes – 2006 that is classified as current portion of long-term debt. The
repayment was funded primarily through existing cash balances with the remainder coming from our existing credit facility.

As of June 30, 2011 we had total borrowings under the Facility of $115 million. The amount which we are able to draw down on under the Facility is
limited by financial covenants as described in more detail below. At June 30, 2011 we had an overall borrowing capacity of $870 million. However, our
drawdown capacity on the Facility was limited to $777 million based on existing balances outstanding under the Facility at June 30, 2011.

The Facility contains the most restrictive covenants of all of our debt instruments, and requires us to maintain, at the end of each fiscal quarter, a ratio of
net debt for borrowed money to adjusted EBITDA in respect of the previous 12-month period of not more than 3.25 to 1. At June 30, 2011, we were in
compliance with all financial and other covenants. At June 30, 2011 our Net Debt/ Adjusted EBITDA  was 1.60 to 1 as defined by the debt agreements, well
below the financial covenants of our existing outstanding debt. Failure to comply with the financial and other covenants under these agreements would constitute
a default and would allow the lenders to accelerate the maturity of all indebtedness under the related agreement. If such acceleration were to occur, we would not
have sufficient liquidity available to repay the indebtedness. We would likely have to seek amendments under the agreements for relief from the financial
covenants or repay the debt with proceeds from the issuance of new debt or equity, and/or asset sales, if necessary. We may be unable to amend the agreements or
raise sufficient capital to repay such obligations in the event the maturities are accelerated.
 
(1) Adjusted EBITDA and Net Debt, which are non-GAAP measures used for these covenants, are calculated in accordance with the definition in the debt

agreements. In this context, these measures are used solely to provide information on the extent to which we are in compliance with debt covenants and may
not be comparable to adjusted EBITDA and Net Debt used by other companies. Reconciliations of adjusted EBITDA to net income and net debt to total
debt are as follows:

 
   12 Months Ended June 30,  
(DOLLARS IN MILLIONS)   2011    2010  
Net income   $ 292.8    $ 231.2  
Interest expense    47.6     52.8  
Income taxes    104.5     97.0  
Depreciation    70.4     74.2  
Amortization    6.0     6.2  
Specified items    7.3     26.4  

    
 

    
 

Adjusted EBITDA   $ 528.6    $ 487.8  
    

 

    

 

 
Specified items for the 12 months ended June 30, 2011 of $7.3 million consist of restructuring charges. Specified items for the 12 months ended June 30,
2010 of $26.4 million consist of restructuring charges ($21.0 million) and employee separation costs ($5.4 million).
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   June 30,  
(DOLLARS IN MILLIONS)   2011   2010  
Total debt   $ 983.7   $ 983.3  
Adjustments:    

Deferred gain on interest rate swaps    (11.9)   (13.9) 
Cash and cash equivalents    (123.4)   (110.6) 

    
 

   
 

Net debt   $ 848.4   $ 858.8  
    

 

   

 

As discussed in Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, at June 30, 2011, we had entered into various guarantees and had undrawn outstanding
letters of credit from financial institutions. These arrangements were entered into in connection with normal business operations and based on the current facts
and circumstances they are not reasonably likely to have a material impact on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity.

On July 26, 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors has authorized a 15% increase in the Company’s quarterly cash dividend to $0.31 per share from the
previous quarterly rate of $0.27 per share. We paid a quarterly dividend in each of the first two quarters of 2011 and 2010.

No shares were repurchased on the open market during the three and six months ended June 30, 2011.

Cautionary Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

Statements in this Quarterly Report, which are not historical facts or information, are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of The Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-looking statements are based on management’s current assumptions, estimates and expectations. Certain
of such forward-looking information may be identified by such terms as “expect”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “outlook”, “guidance”, “may” and similar terms or
variations thereof. All information concerning future revenues, tax rates or benefits, energy costs interest and other savings, capital expenditures, earnings and
other future financial results or financial position, constitutes forward-looking information. Such forward-looking statements are based on a series of expectations,
assumptions, estimates and projections about the Company, are not guarantees of future results or performance, and involve significant risks, uncertainties and
other factors, including assumptions and projections, for all forward periods. Actual results of the Company may differ materially from any future results
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such factors include, among others, the following:
 

 
•  general economic and business conditions in the Company’s markets and demand for the Company’s products, especially given the current disruption

in global economic conditions, including economic and recessionary pressures;
 

 •  energy and commodity prices;
 

 •  decline in consumer confidence and spending and changes in consumer preferences;
 

 •  competitive products and pricing pressures;
 

 •  population health and political uncertainties, and the difficulty in projecting the short and long-term effects of global economic conditions;
 

 •  movements in interest rates;
 

 •  continued volatility and deterioration of the capital and credit markets and any adverse impact on our cost of and access to capital and credit;
 

 •  fluctuations in the price, quality and availability of raw materials;
 

 
•  the Company’s ability to implement its business strategy, including the achievement of anticipated cost savings, profitability, realization of price

increases and growth targets;
 

 •  the level of success the Company achieves in developing and introducing new products and entering new markets;
 

 
•  the impact of currency fluctuation or devaluation in the Company’s principal foreign markets, especially given the current disruptions to such

currency markets, and the impact on the availability, effectiveness and cost of the Company’s hedging and risk management strategies;
 

 •  the outcome of uncertainties related to litigation;
 

 •  the impact of possible pension funding obligations and increased pension expense on the Company’s cash flow
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 and results of operations;
 

 
•  the effect of legal and regulatory proceedings, as well as restrictions imposed on the Company, its operations or its representatives by U.S. and

foreign governments;
 

 •  federal, state, local and foreign taxes fluctuations in our tax obligations and effective tax rate;
 

 
•  any business disruptions due to political instability, armed hostilities, incidents of terrorism, natural disasters or the responses to or repercussion from

any of these or similar events or conditions; and
 

 •  adverse changes to accounting rules or regulations.

The foregoing list of important factors does not include all such factors, nor necessarily present them in order of importance. In addition, you should
consult other disclosures made by the Company (such as in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) or in company press releases)
for other factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from those projected by the Company. Please refer to Part I. Item 1A., Risk Factors, of the 2010
Form 10-K and Part II. Item 1A., Risk Factors, of this Form 10-Q for additional information regarding factors that could affect the Company’s results of
operations, financial condition and liquidity.

The Company intends its forward-looking statements to speak only as of the time of such statements and does not undertake or plan to update or revise
them as more information becomes available or to reflect changes in expectations, assumptions or results. The Company can give no assurance that such
expectations or forward-looking statements will prove to be correct. An occurrence of, or any material adverse change in, one or more of the risk factors or risks
and uncertainties referred to in this report or included in our other periodic reports filed with the SEC on could materially and adversely impact our operations and
our future financial results.

Any public statements or disclosures by IFF following this report that modify or impact any of the forward-looking statements contained in or
accompanying this report will be deemed to modify or supersede such outlook or other forward-looking statements in or accompanying this report.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

The Company uses non-GAAP financial operating measures which exclude restructuring charges (including costs associated with the Company’s
restructuring efforts in Europe in 2010 and 2011) and employee separation costs in the 12 month period ended June 30, 2010 in connection with our debt
covenant calculation. In addition, in certain instances, we exclude the effects of exchange rate fluctuations when discussing our historical performance. The
Company also discloses, from time to time, non-GAAP effective tax rates, which exclude the effect of the benefits of tax rulings relating to prior periods, as
additional information in seeking to assess and compare our tax rates without the benefit of those tax rulings. Such information is supplemental to information
presented in accordance with GAAP and is not intended to represent a presentation in accordance with GAAP. In discussing our historical and expected future
results and financial condition, we believe it is meaningful for investors to be made aware of and to be assisted in a better understanding of, on a period-to-period
comparative basis, of financial amounts both including and excluding these identified items, as well as the impact of exchange rate fluctuations on operating
results and financial condition. We believe such additional non-GAAP information provides investors with an overall perspective of the period-to-period
performance of our core business. In addition, management internally reviews each of these non-GAAP measures to evaluate performance on a comparative
period-to-period basis in terms of absolute performance, trends and expected future performance with respect to our core continuing business. A material
limitation of these non-GAAP measures is that such measures do not reflect actual GAAP amounts, restructuring charges and employee separation costs include
actual cash outlays; and we compensate for such limitations by presenting the accompanying reconciliation to the most directly comparable GAAP measure.
These non-GAAP measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

There are no material changes in market risk from the information provided in the Company’s 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer with the assistance of other members of our management, have evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on such evaluation, the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief
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Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q.

We have established controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated to management, including the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer,
to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have also concluded that there have not been any changes in our internal control over financial
reporting during the quarter ended July 1, 2011 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are subject to various claims and legal actions in the ordinary course of our business. For purpose of reporting these actions, Bush Boake Allen, Inc.
(“BBA”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of IFF, and/or IFF are referred to as the “Company.”

Popcorn Flavor Litigation

In September 2001, the Company was named as a defendant in a purported class action brought against it in the Circuit Court of Jasper County, Missouri,
on behalf of employees of a plant owned and operated by Gilster-Mary Lee Corp. in Jasper, Missouri (“Benavides case”). The plaintiffs alleged that they
sustained respiratory injuries in the workplace due to the use by Gilster-Mary Lee of a BBA and/or IFF flavor.

In January 2004, the Court ruled that class action status was not warranted. As a result of this decision, each of the 47 plaintiff cases was to be tried
separately. Subsequently, eight cases were tried to a verdict, four verdicts resulted for the plaintiffs and four verdicts resulted for the Company, all of which were
appealed by the losing party. Subsequently all plaintiff cases related to the Benavides case, including those on appeal, were settled.

Sixteen actions based on similar claims of alleged respiratory illness due to workplace exposure to flavor ingredients are currently pending against the
Company and other flavor suppliers and related companies.

In January 2007, the Company and another flavor supplier were named defendants in a lawsuit in Hamilton County, Ohio Court of Common Pleas by 56
current and former employees (plus 28 spousal loss of consortium claims) of two separate Marion, Ohio factories (Aldrich case). In June 2007, the Company and
another flavor supplier were named defendants in a lawsuit filed in Hamilton County, Ohio Court of Common Pleas by 17 current and former employees (plus six
spousal loss of consortium claims) of a Marion, Ohio facility (Arnold case). In July 2007, the Company and another flavor manufacturer were named defendants
in a lawsuit filed in Hamilton County, Ohio Court of Common Pleas by 35 current and former workers (plus 13 spousal loss of consortium claims) of two Marion,
Ohio facilities (Adamson case).

In March 2008, the Company and another flavor supplier were named defendants in two lawsuits in the Hamilton County, Ohio Court of Common Pleas,
one by nine current and former employees and the spouses of two such employees of a popcorn plant in Marion, Ohio (Ferguson case) and the other by ten
current and former employees and three spouses of such employees of the same plant (Brown case). In August 2008, the Company and seven other flavor and
material suppliers were named defendants in a lawsuit by nine plaintiffs (plus eight loss of consortium claims) in the Hamilton County Court of Common Pleas
(Auld case). The Ferguson case was settled during the second quarter of 2011.

In September 2009, the Company, another flavor supplier and a former employer were named as defendants in a lawsuit by the child of a worker at a
Ridgeway, Illinois factory in an action brought in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois, but which is being transferred to the Gallatin County, Illinois Circuit
Court (Patton case). In December 2009, the Company, five other flavor manufacturers and five microwave popcorn manufacturers and distributors were named
defendants in a lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Iowa (and in an identical suit in case the Iowa suit was found to be an incorrect
jurisdiction was filed in May 2010 in Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles, Central District) by a consumer of microwave popcorn and her
husband (Daughetee case).

In January 2010, the Company was named as a defendant in a lawsuit by four former workers (and their spouses) at a Ridgeway, Illinois factory in an
action brought in the U.S. District Court for the Southern district of Illinois (Barker case). In May 2010, the Company and 22 other companies, many flavor and
ingredient suppliers, were named defendants in a lawsuit by an employee (and his spouse) at a Forest Park, Georgia food plant in an action brought in the State
Court of Gwinnett County, Georgia (Anderson case). In September 2010, the Company and 28 other companies, many flavor and flavor ingredient suppliers, were
named defendants in a lawsuit by an employee of a series of companies alleged to have purchased products from the defendants in an action brought in the Boone
County Circuit Court in Kentucky (Geyman case). In October 2010, the Company and another flavor supplier were named defendants in a lawsuit by a former
employee of a Marion, Ohio facility (and his spouse for loss of consortium) in an
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action brought in the Hamilton County, Ohio Court of Common Pleas (Young case). In December 2010, the Company and another flavor supplier were named
defendants in a lawsuit by three former employees of a Marion, Ohio facility in an action brought in Hamilton County, Ohio Court of Common Pleas (Belt case),
by nine former employees (plus four spouses) of the same facility in the same Court against the same defendants (Calloway case) and by 23 former employees
(plus 14 spouses) of the same facility in the same Court against the same defendants (Aldrich II case). The defendants in these three cases are former defendants
who were previously dismissed from similar actions in the same Court against the same defendants.

In May 2011, the Company was named as a third party defendant by another diacetyl supplier to the Company’s former Menonomee Falls, WI plant
(Anderson case). From 2006 to 2009, the Company had various flavor products manufactured on its behalf at the Wisconsin plant.

The Company believes that all IFF and BBA flavors at issue in these matters meet the requirements of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration and are safe
for handling and use by workers in food manufacturing plants when used according to specified safety procedures. These procedures are detailed in instructions
that IFF and BBA provided to all their customers for the safe handling and use of their flavors. It is the responsibility of IFF’s customers to ensure that these
instructions, which include the use of appropriate engineering controls, such as adequate ventilation, proper handling procedures and respiratory protection for
workers, are followed in the workplace.

On at least a quarterly basis the Company reviews the status of each pending claim, as well as its insurance coverage for such claims with due consideration
given to potentially applicable deductibles, retentions and reservation of rights under its insurance policies, and the advice of its outside legal counsel and an
independently developed model for assessing insurance deductible amounts with respect to all these matters. Based on information presently available and in light
of the merits of its defenses and the availability of insurance, the Company does not expect the outcome of the above cases, singly or in the aggregate, to have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. There can be no assurance that future events will not require the
Company to increase the amount it has accrued for any matter or accrue for a matter that has not been previously accrued. See Note 12 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Patent Claims

A complaint, captioned V. Mane Fils S.A. v. International Flavors and Fragrances Inc., was filed in U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey in
May 2006, and alleges that the Company has and continues to infringe U.S. Patent Nos. 5,725,856 and 5,843,466, relating to a flavor ingredient that may provide
a cooling effect. The Company answered the complaint by denying liability and asserting that both patents are invalid and various other defenses. In June 2008,
plaintiff amended its complaint to add claims for violations of the Lanham Act, tortious interference and unfair competition. The Company answered the amended
complaint by denying all liability. In connection with the patent claims, the plaintiff seeks monetary damages, damages for alleged willful infringement,
injunctive relief and fees, costs and interest. In connection with the additional claims, plaintiff also seeks monetary damages, punitive damages, fees and costs. In
May 2010, following reexamination of the patents in question by the U.S. Patent Office, all of the patent claims, initially rejected in the reexamination
proceeding, were reallowed. The Company and the plaintiff have each filed motions for summary judgment with respect to various claims. No trial date has been
scheduled, although the Court has indicated that a trial may be scheduled for October 2011. The Company denies the allegations and will defend its position in
Court.

We analyze our liability on at least a quarterly basis and accrue for litigation loss contingencies when they are probable and estimable. During the second
quarter 2010, we recorded a provision related to this case which is reflected in Other liabilities. The Company is unable to reasonably estimate the amount or
realistic range of reasonably possible losses above its recorded liability, if any, that might result if the outcome of this matter is unfavorable. Based on present
information, the Company believes that its ultimate liability, if any, arising from this proceeding would not have a material adverse effect on its financial position
or liquidity; however, due to the unpredictability regarding the litigation process, such claims, if ultimately resolved against us, could potentially have a material
adverse effect on our cash flows or reported results in a particular period. An adverse outcome could also potentially affect our ability to sell one or more flavor
products to the extent the Court ultimately issued an injunction related to the patents. The Company disputes the allegations of wrongdoing, believes it has
meritorious defenses and is vigorously defending all claims.

Environmental
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Over the past 20 years, various federal and state authorities and private parties have claimed that the Company is a Potentially Responsible Party (“PRP”)
as a generator of waste materials for alleged pollution at a number of waste sites operated by third parties located principally in New Jersey and have sought to
recover costs incurred and to be incurred to clean up the sites.

The Company has been identified as a PRP at ten facilities operated by third parties at which investigation and/or remediation activities may be ongoing.
The Company analyzes its liability on at least a quarterly basis. The Company accrues for environmental liabilities when they are probable and estimable. The
Company estimates its share of the total future cost for these sites to be less than $5 million.

While joint and several liability is authorized under federal and state environmental laws, the Company believes the amounts it has paid and anticipates
paying in the future for clean-up costs and damages at all sites are not and will not be material to the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or
liquidity. This conclusion is based upon, among other things, the involvement of other PRPs at most sites, the status of proceedings, including various settlement
agreements and consent decrees, the extended time period over which payments will likely be made and an agreement reached in July 1994 with three of the
Company’s liability insurers pursuant to which defense costs and indemnity amounts payable by the Company in respect of the sites will be shared by the insurers
up to an agreed amount.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes in the risk factors previously disclosed in the Company’s 2010 Form 10-K.

The Company generally does not believe that it has significant risk or exposure to natural disasters; however, it is difficult to predict if, when or where such
events may occur. In regards to the events in Japan that occurred during the first quarter 2011, the Company’s facility, operations and business environment have
not been materially affected to this point in time.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds -

(c) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The Company has not purchased any shares during the second quarter of 2011.
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Item 6. Exhibits
 
31.1   Certification of Douglas D. Tough pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2   Certification of Kevin C. Berryman pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32   Certification of Douglas D. Tough and Kevin C. Berryman pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

INTERNATIONAL FLAVORS & FRAGRANCES INC.
 
Dated:  August 9, 2011   By: /s/    DOUGLAS D. TOUGH        

    Douglas D. Tough
    Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Dated:  August 9, 2011   By: /s/    KEVIN C. BERRYMAN        
    Kevin C. Berryman
    Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT INDEX
 
Number   Description

31.1   Certification of Douglas D. Tough pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2   Certification of Kevin C. Berryman pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32
  

Certification of Douglas D. Tough and Kevin C. Berryman pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Douglas D. Tough, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of International Flavors & Fragrances Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.

Dated: August 9, 2011
 

By:  /s/ Douglas D. Tough
Name:  Douglas D. Tough
Title:  Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Kevin C. Berryman, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of International Flavors & Fragrances Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.

Dated: August 9, 2011
 

By:  /s/ Kevin C. Berryman
Name:  Kevin C. Berryman
Title:  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION OF CEO AND CFO PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of International Flavors & Fragrances Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended July 1, 2011 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Douglas D. Tough as Chief Executive Officer and Kevin C. Berryman, as
Chief Financial Officer, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. (section) 1350, as adopted pursuant to (section) 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that,
to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
By:  /s/ Douglas D. Tough
Name: Douglas D. Tough
Title:  Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Dated: August 9, 2011

By:  /s/ Kevin C. Berryman
Name: Kevin C. Berryman
Title:  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Dated: August 9, 2011


